FILED
Court of Appeals
Division II
State of Washington
3/1/2024 12:25 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/1/2024 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

## 102845-8

Court of Appeals No. 62596-2-II IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION 2

# In re the Detention of: Andrew Vejar

Pierce County Superior Court Cause No. 23-2-08435-2

The Honorable Judge Karena Kirkendoll

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jodi R. Backlund Manek R. Mistry Attorneys for Appellant

## **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

#

## INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Following a contested hearing, Judge Karena Kirkendoll concluded that the State had not shown probable cause to detain Andrew Vejar for civil commitment proceedings. Although the evidence showed a likelihood of reoffence, it did not establish that Mr. Vejar has a mental abnormality creating a likelihood of predatory sexual violence. The Supreme Court should grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and remand for dismissal of the State's petition.

# **DECISION BELOW AND ISSUES PRESENTED**

Petitioner Andrew Vejar, the Respondent in the case below, asks the Supreme Court to review the Court of Appeals unpublished opinion entered on February 13, 2024. This case presents one issue:

Although the State produced evidence that Mr. Vejar's mental abnormality creates a likelihood of sexual recidivism, did it fail to show that his condition makes him likely to commit predatory acts of sexual violence?

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the opinion is attached.

# STATEMENT OF FACTS AND PRIOR PROCEEDINGS

Andrew Vejar was scheduled to be released from jail in August of 2023. CP 4. He had finished serving a sentence for failure to register and three counts of simple assault. CP 2, 4. However, instead of being let out of jail, he was detained past his release date when the State filed for civil commitment. CP 1.

Judge Karena Kirkendoll presided over a contested probable cause hearing. RP 4-38. She reviewed two evaluations authored by Dr. Marianne Davis. CP 25-91. She concluded that "the State has failed to make a prima facie showing that there is a nexus between [Mr. Vejar's] diagnosis and a future act of sexual predatory violence, as defined by statute." CP 127.

Dr. Davis had diagnosed Mr. Vejar with antisocial personality disorder (ASPD) and frotteuristic disorder.<sup>2</sup> CP 53-55. The frotteuristic disorder diagnosis related to the three

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Frotteuristic disorder involves "recurrent and intense sexual arousal from touching or rubbing against a nonconsenting person." CP 54.

convictions for simple assault entered in 2023. CP 78. These were based on allegations that he had grabbed the buttocks of two women and a 12-year-old girl. CP 71-72.

He had committed similar misconduct while in prison, grabbing the buttocks of two correctional officers. CP 54, 78. Based on the ASPD and frotteuristic disorder diagnoses, Dr. Davis concluded that Mr. Vejar had a "mental abnormality" under RCW 71.09.020(9). CP 56.

Dr. Davis did not diagnose any "paraphilic disorder involving an arousal to nonconsensual sex." CP 53-55. She did not claim that his mental abnormality had caused him to commit the rape, attempted rape, and kidnapping of an adult woman that had sent him to prison in 1999. CP 1, 25-91, 135-136.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Nor did she diagnose pedophilic disorder. CP 53-55. She did conclude that he had a fetishistic disorder. CP 78-79. However, she did not find that this amounted to a mental abnormality. CP 80.

Dr. Davis estimated Mr. Vejar's actuarial risk of a new sex offense as approximately 45%. CP 86. At no point did she claim that she could adjust this figure to greater than 50%. CP 25-91. She admitted that the actuarial instruments she used assess the risk of sexual recidivism generally; they do not measure the risk of predatory sexual violence. CP 58, 83.

At the conclusion of the contested hearing, Judge
Kirkendoll ruled that the State's evidence was "missing that
piece that helps me bridge the gap between what he has been
diagnosed with, the antisocial personality disorder combined
with the frotteuristic disorder, that leads him to an act of sexual
predatory violence." RP 29.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> She did say that his actual recidivism risk "may be higher or lower than that indicated." CP 85.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The Court of Appeals erroneously asserts that the Static-99R "underestimates [the] risk of *committing* another violent sexual offense" because it does not account for unreported crimes. Opinion, p. 20. The instrument may underestimate the rate of sexual offending, but it overestimates the risk of sexual *violence*. It is based on reports of all sexual offenses, including crimes such as exhibitionism. Predatory acts of sexual violence are a small fraction of sex offenses generally.

The court's written order echoed this:

At this time, [t]here is not probable cause to believe that Respondent is a sexually violent predator... The State has failed to make a prima facie showing that there is a nexus between [Mr. Vejar's] diagnoses and a future act of sexual predatory violence, as defined by statute. CP 127.

The State sought reconsideration, and submitted an addendum authored by Dr. Davis. CP 131, 135. Based on the same facts that she had previously considered, Dr. Davis asserted that Mr. Vejar has a "severe" form of frotteuristic disorder.<sup>6</sup> CP 136. She repeated her belief that he qualified for commitment. CP 136.

Judge Kirkendoll denied reconsideration, and the State sought review. CP 146. The Court of Appeals reversed.

Opinion, pp. 1, 22. Mr. Vejar asks this court to review that decision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Trial counsel pointed out that the definition of frotteuristic disorder does not provide criteria for distinguishing between a mild form of the disorder and a severe form of the disorder. CP 54, 143-144.

# **ARGUMENT**

EVIDENCE ESTABLISHING MR. VEJAR'S RISK OF SEXUAL RECIDIVISM DOES NOT SHOW THAT HIS MENTAL ILLNESS MAKES HIM LIKELY TO COMMIT PREDATORY SEXUAL VIOLENCE.

As Judge Kirkendoll found, the State did not present evidence showing that Mr. Vejar's mental abnormality would cause him to commit predatory acts of sexual violence, as opposed to other offenses. The Supreme Court should grant review, reverse the Court of Appeals, and remand the case for dismissal.

A. To proceed with civil commitment, the State must show that a person's mental abnormality causes them to commit predatory acts of sexual violence.

Before a court may order pretrial detention and allow a civil commitment proceeding to go forward, the State must establish probable cause to believe the person qualifies for commitment. RCW 71.09.040. The detainee has the right to contest probable cause; otherwise, "the risk of wrongful

detention is too great." *In re Young*, 122 Wn.2d 1, 46, 857 P.2d 989 (1993).

Here, after a contested hearing, the trial judge could not find evidence that Mr. Vejar's mental abnormality would cause him to commit predatory sexual violence. RP 29; CP 127.

Instead, at most, the State established a link between Mr.

Vejar's mental condition and a risk that he might commit a new sex offense.

Courts "assess[] probable cause in SVP commitments under a criminal standard." *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 744, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). To proceed, the State must show, *inter alia*, that the person facing commitment "suffers from a mental abnormality... which makes the person likely to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence." RCW 71.09.020(19).

This is "a compound determination." *In re Det. of Post*, 170 Wn.2d 302, 310, 241 P.3d 1234 (2010). In addition to proving that the person has a mental abnormality, the State must show causation—that the person's mental abnormality

causes them to commit predatory sexual violence, creating a risk greater than 50% that they will commit a qualifying act. *Id.* 

Here, when taken at face value, the State's evidence shows a likelihood of reoffence, but not that the reoffense would be a qualifying act. The State did not meet its burden: it did not show that Mr. Vejar's condition makes him more than 50% likely to commit a predatory act of sexual violence.

B. The State did not show that Mr. Vejar is likely to commit predatory sexual violence, or that his mental condition creates that likelihood.

An expert's conclusory statements are insufficient to establish probable cause. *In re Jacobson*, 120 Wn. App. 770, 780–81, 86 P.3d 1202 (2004). Instead, "a trial court may properly look beyond an expert's stated conclusion to determine whether it is supported by sufficient facts." *Jacobson*, 120 Wn. App. at 780–81.

Dr. Davis concluded that Mr. Vejar "does meet the criteria as a sexually violent predator." CP 65, 91, 136.

However, the facts underlying her conclusory statements do not

show that Mr. Vejar's mental illness creates a greater-than-50% likelihood<sup>7</sup> that he will commit predatory acts of sexual violence in the future. CP 25-91, 135-136.

Dr. Davis did not claim that any mental abnormality caused Mr. Vejar's 1999 convictions for rape, attempted rape, or kidnapping. P25-91, 135-136. She did not diagnose any paraphilia based on nonconsent, and did not find the 1999 offenses indicative of a mental abnormality. CP 55.

Instead, according to Dr. Davis, Mr. Vejar's mental illnesses cause him to commit frotteuristic offenses such as grabbing others' buttocks. CP 54-55. This propensity does not establish a likelihood of predatory acts of sexual violence. *See* RCW 71.09.020(18).

In reversing Judge Kirkendoll, the Court of Appeals relied on evidence that Mr. Vejar may commit such offenses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Post, 170 Wn.2d at 310.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> These offenses provide the basis for the State's allegation that Mr. Vejar has been convicted of a crime of sexual violence. CP 1.

against young children.<sup>9</sup> Opinion, p. 21. This possibility does not meet the standard for two reasons.

First, nothing in the record shows that Mr. Vejar is more than 50% likely to offend against young children. Dr. Davis did not advance this theory, not even in the addendum she submitted after Judge Kirkendoll's initial decision. CP 135-136.

Mr. Vejar's offense history shows that he is an indiscriminate offender who primarily targets adults. <sup>10</sup> Even if there is some possibility he'll offend against a child in the future, that possibility is insufficient for commitment unless it exceeds 50%.

Second, nothing in the record shows that Mr. Vejar's mental abnormality causes him to target young children. As Judge Kirkendoll found, the State did not show "a nexus

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Age-based sexual crimes against children over the age of 14 are not sexually violent offenses. RCW 71.09.020(18).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> His history of adult-oriented offenses includes the 1999 convictions, the misconduct in prison, and two of the three 2023 offenses. Only one prior act involved a young child.

between [Mr. Vejar's] diagnosis and a future act of sexual predatory violence." CP 127. Dr. Davis did not diagnose him with pedophilic disorder, and did not opine that any mental abnormality would drive him to offend against children. CP 25-91, 135-136.

Dr. Davis suggested that Mr. Vejar "poses a high risk" for violent crimes like those he committed in 1999. CP 136. Even this statement is insufficient. She did not claim that his risk of committing such crimes exceeds 50%. CP 136.

Nor did she claim that his mental abnormality would cause him to commit those offenses. CP 136. Indeed, she specifically declined to find that he had a paraphilia that would produce such behavior:

I considered whether he might also meet criteria for a paraphilic disorder involving an arousal to nonconsensual sex... [B]ut I have insufficient information to support a diagnosis of a separate paraphilic disorder involving coercive sex.

CP 55.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> The same is true regarding any argument that he might use forcible compulsion. *See* Appellant's Opening Brief, pp. 40-41.

Perhaps recognizing this, the Court of Appeals did not suggest that Mr. Vejar could be committed based on any risk that he'd use force in the commission of sexual crimes. Opinion, pp. 19-21.

By itself, a high risk of sexual offending is insufficient for civil commitment. This is true even if there is some possibility of predatory sexual violence in the future.

A person with a 100% likelihood of reoffence is not eligible for commitment if there is only a 49% chance that future offenses will be predatory acts of sexual violence. Such a person will likely spend time in prison, but they may not be committed.

This case involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be decided by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(4). It provides this court with an opportunity to apply RCW 71.09.020(19) to a subset of sex offenders who do not fit neatly within the legislature's definition of sexually violent predator.

If Mr. Vejar suffered from pedophilic disorder and only offended against young children, it would be easy to say that a high risk of reoffence qualified him for commitment. Likewise, if he had a rape paraphilia and only committed crimes such as indecent liberties by forcible compulsion, a high risk of reoffence would qualify him for commitment.

Mr. Vejar's mental abnormality and offense history does not place him within either of these "easy" categories. As Judge Kirkendoll recognized, Dr. Davis was unable to support her conclusion that Mr. Vejar's mental abnormality created a likelihood of predatory sexual violence. The facts underlying her opinion do not show a nexus between his condition and a greater-than-50% risk of qualifying acts.

The Supreme Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(4).

# **CONCLUSION**

The Supreme Court should reverse the court of appeals and remand with instructions to dismiss the State's petition.