FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/29/2024 3:29 PM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

NO. 102845-8

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

In re the Detention of:

ANDREW VEJAR,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

MARKO HANANEL, WSBA #56592 / OID #91094 **Assistant Attorney General** 800 Fifth Ave., Suite 2000 Seattle, WA 98104-3188

Ph.: (206) 389-2019

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

IV. REASONS WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. The Court of Appeals Correctly Concluded that the State Established Probable Cause that Vejar Is a Sexually Violent Predator

Vejar does not dispute that he has a mental abnormality. CITE. He also appears to concede that his mental abnormality makes him likely to commit sexual offenses. *See* Petition at 1, 7. The only dispute is whether he is likely "sexually violent offenses" that would qualify him for commitment. The Court of Appeals correctly resolved this dispute and concluded that the State's showing was more than sufficient.

1. The State's burden at this stage in the proceedings is low; it need only make a prima facie showing

The probable cause standard is "not a stringent one" *State v. McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 382, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). "Probable cause exists if the proposition to be proven has been prima facie shown." *In re Det. of Petersen*, 145 Wn.2d 789, 797, 42 P.3d 952 (2002). The court "must assume the truth of the evidence presented; it may not weigh and measure asserted facts

against potentially competing ones." *McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d at 382 (internal quotation marks omitted). The trial court's role is simply to "determine whether the asserted evidence, if believed, is sufficient to establish the proposition its proponent intends to prove." *Id.* A trial court's determination as to whether evidence establishes probable cause is subject to de novo review. *Id.*

2. The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that there was ample evidence of a nexus between Vejar's diagnoses and future qualifying acts of sexual violence

The Court of Appeals correctly determined that the State's evidence was "more than sufficient to establish the proposition that Vejar's mental abnormality makes him more likely than not to commit a predatory act of sexual violence." Slip op. at 22.

As the Court of Appeals recognized, the State presented evidence that Vejar was diagnosed with antisocial personality disorder and frotteurism. Slip op. at 19. Vejar's serial fortteuristic behavior indicated "both that he found the conduct gratifying and that he experienced urges to repeat the experiences." *Id.* Additionally, the fact that he spent 20 years in prison for a sexual

offense and yet sexually reoffended weeks after his community custody ended "indicates the urges to grab and touch the victims were intense." *Id.* 19-20. This urge was apparently undiminished after he "successfully completed *two separate* [sex offender treatment programs]." Id. Finally, Dr. Davis' risk assessment also demonstrated that Vejar is at a high risk of reoffending. His score on the Static 99-R placed him in the "well above-risk category for being charged or convicted of another sexual offense and in the 94th percentile for risk of re-offense as compared to other male sex offenders." Slip op. at 20 (internal quotations omitted).

The Court of Appeals also properly rejected Vejar's argument is that the State's proof is insufficient because grabbing buttocks is not sexually violent conduct. Opinion at 11. First, grabbing a person's buttocks *can* be a sexually violent offense under certain circumstances. If the person is less than 14 years of age, for example, it could constitute child molestation in the first

or second degree. ² CP at 68. Attempts to commit either offense also qualify as sexually violent offenses under the statute. RCW 71.09.020(18)(a), (d).

Second, Vejar's propensity to engage in this behavior is not just theoretical. The record establishes that Vejar searched the start times of his local middle school and high school and grabbed the buttocks of a 12-year-old girl on her way to school. Slip op. at 21; CP 20, 72-73. And, as the Court of Appeals explained, even though Vejar was convicted of fourth degree assault for this offense, "his underlying conduct qualifies as second degree child molestation[,]" which is a qualifying offense

² A person is guilty of Child Molestation in the Second Degree "when the person has . . . sexual contact with another who is at least twelve years old but less than fourteen years old and the perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older than the victim." RCW 9A.44.086(1). A person is guilty of Child Molestation in the First Degree "when the person has . . . sexual contact with another who is less than twelve years old and the perpetrator is at least thirty-six months older than the victim." RCW 9A.44.083(1). "Sexual contact' means any touching of the sexual or other intimate parts of a person done for the purpose of gratifying sexual desire of either party or a third party." RCW 9A.44.010(13). Courts have found buttocks to be an "intimate part." *In re Welfare of Adams*, 24 Wn. App. 517, 519-20, 601 P.2d 995 (1979). Child Molestation is the current analog to Indecent Liberties against a child under age 14. *See U.S. v. Wood*, 52 F.3d 272, 274 n.1 (9th Cir. 1995).

under the statute. Slip op. at 21. The record also shows other concerning behavior involving minors, including allegations that Vejar tried to put his phone up at 13-year-old's skirt and videotape her crotch. CP at 72.

Additionally, although not relied on by the Court of Appeals, grabbing a person's buttocks can also be a predatory act of sexual violence if it is accomplished by force or restraint. For example, it could result in Indecent Liberties With Forcible Compulsion³; Kidnapping in the First or Second Degree With Sexual Motivation⁴; or Unlawful Imprisonment with Sexual

³ A person is guilty of Indecent Liberties With Forcible Compulsion "when he or she knowingly causes another person to have sexual contact with him or her or another . . . [b]y forcible compulsion." RCW 9A.44.100(1)(a). "'Forcible compulsion' means physical force which overcomes resistance, or a threat, express or implied, that places a person in fear of death or physical injury to herself or himself or another person, or in fear that she or he or another person will be kidnapped." RCW 9A.44.010(3).

⁴ A person is guilty of Kidnapping in the First Degree "if he or she intentionally abducts another person with intent . . . (b) [t]o facilitate commission of any felony or flight thereafter. . . ." RCW 9A.40.020(1)(b). A person is guilty of Kidnapping in the Second Degree "if he or she intentionally abducts another person under circumstances not amounting to kidnapping in the first degree." RCW 9A.40.030(1). "Sexual motivation' means that one of the purposes for which the defendant committed the crime was for the purpose of his or her sexual gratification." RCW 9.94A.030(48).

Motivation.⁵ CP at 68. Attempts to commit those offenses also qualify under the statute. *See* RCW 71.09.020(18)(a), (d).

Dr. Davis's report supports an inference that Vejar is likely to use force in committing future assaults. Vejar has already demonstrated a willingness and capacity to use threats, restraints, kidnapping, and weapons in the commission of crimes against others. Vejar kidnapped and raped a woman in a "well-planned" attack in 1999 where he brought handcuffs, weapons, and told his victim "play it cool, or it would turn into a bloodbath." CP at 87, 27, 70.

The characteristics associated with his mental abnormality also support an inference that Vejar is likely to use force to achieve sexual gratification, including: (1) his aggressiveness; (2) reckless disregard for the safety of others; (3) lack of remorse; (4) deviant sexual interest in nonconsenting adult touching; (5) severe hostility toward women; (6) inability to appreciate harm

⁵ A person is guilty of Unlawful Imprisonment if he or she knowingly restrains another person. RCW 9A.40.040(1); *see also* RCW 9.94A.030(48) (defining "sexual motivation").

to his victims; (7) and inability to respond appropriately to victims' fears and protests. *See* CP 77, 79-80, 87-89.

Finally, Dr. Davis's report supports a conclusion that Vejar's abnormality makes him likely to commit sexually violent offenses similar to those he has committed in the past. CP at 136. Vejar admitted that when he raped and kidnapped a woman in 1999, he grabbed the victim's rear end and took pictures of her bottom, suggesting that his mental abnormality may have played a role in the commission that offense. CP at 28, 70. Additionally, the characteristics associated with Vejar's mental abnormality, just discussed, further support that Vejar is likely to commit these offenses.

3. Vejar's Arguments About Alleged Deficiencies in Dr. Davis's Report are Meritless

Vejar briefly raises two other points suggesting that Dr. Davis's reports and conclusions are insufficient. Both are without merit.

First, Vejar points out that Dr. Davis did not diagnose a paraphilic disorder associated with arousal to non-consent or

attraction to children. Petition at 10-11. These attacks on the strength of her opinion call for weighing of the evidence, which is inappropriate at the probable cause stage. *State v. McCuistion*, 174 Wn.2d 369, 382, 275 P.3d 1092 (2012). The trial court may not "weigh and measure asserted facts against potentially competing ones"; it "must determine whether the asserted evidence, if believed, is sufficient." *Id.* These arguments are for a jury at trial, not a trial court at filing of the petition.

In any case, this arguments also fails because "there is no talismanic significance to a particular diagnosis of mental illness. No technical diagnosis of a particular 'mental abnormality' definitively renders an individual either an SVP or not." *In re Det. of Thorell*, 149 Wn.2d 724, 762, 72 P.3d 708 (2003). In other words, Vejar need not be diagnosed with a paraphilic disorder associated with arousal to non-consent or attraction to children in order to qualify for SVP commitment.

Second, Vejar briefly argues that Dr. Davis' actuarial risk assessments did not place his risk of reoffending at more than

50%. Petition at 4, 10. This is immaterial. This Court has held that the SVP statute "does not limit experts to the results of actuarial tests and there is no requirement that the SVP will reoffend in the foreseeable future." In re Det. of Meirhofer, 182 Wn.2d 632, 645, 343 P.3d 731 (2015) (internal quotation marks omitted). At the outset of her reports, Dr. Davis listed offenses that expressly qualify under the SVP statute, which indicates that her opinion was properly focused on qualifying offenses as opposed to other conduct. CP at 26, 68. She ultimately opined that—in her professional judgment—due to Vejar's mental abnormality, he is more likely than not to engage in predatory acts of sexual violence if he is not confined in a secure facility. CP at 10, 12, 56, 64, 80-91. Nothing more is required.

B. This Case Does Not Involve an Issue of Substantial Public Interest under RAP 13.4(b)(4)

Vejar contends that his appeal involves a substantial issue of public interest because it "provides this [C]ourt with an opportunity to apply [the definition of "sexually violent predator"] to a subset of sex offenders who do not fit neatly

within [that] definition." Petition at 12. But as explained above, Vejar fits squarely within the statutory definition, and any arguments to the contrary are ones he can make at trial. Further, Vejar makes no attempt to support his implied claim that there are other potential SVPs that share Vejar's alleged incongruity with the definition. In short, this is a fact-specific case involving a routine probable cause determination that the Court of Appeals correctly resolved. Further review by this Court is unwarranted.

V. CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, this Court should decline Vejar's petition for review and permit the matter to proceed to a trial before a jury.

This document contains 4,372 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.